FILED
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

2014 OCT 16 PM 1:11

No. 46147-1-II

STATE OF WASHINGTON

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
STATE OF WASHINGTON

BY: 
DEPUTY

STATE OF WASHINGTON

Respondent.

vs.

DAVID NEWLAND

Appellant.

On Appeal from the Clark County Superior Court
Cause No. 13-1-00090-3
The Honorable David Gregerson, Judge

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BEAU D. HARLAN
Attorney for Appellant
WSBA No. 23924

211 E. McLoughlin Blvd.
Vancouver, WA. 98663
Phone (360) 735-8200

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court denied the defendant his right to a fair trial when the trial court ruled to admit testimony about child sex abuse unrelated to the charged crime of Assault in the Third Degree, thereby implicating the defendant as being associated with, protecting and/or being a pedophile.
2. The trial court erred by denying defendant's motion to a mistrial after the government's star witness willfully violated a motion in limine excluding testimony excluding testimony of trial rape.
3. The trial court's rulings to admit testimony regarding child sex abuse was harmful and affected the outcome of trial.
4. The State committed prosecutorial misconduct by implying that the defense should have called a witness contrary to a motion in limine.

II. ISSUES PERTAINING ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Whether the trial court properly balanced the unfair prejudice of implicating the defendant with child sex abuse and/or being a defender of a pedophile, and/or being a pedophile, versus the probative value of res gestae in a simple Assault III case?
2. Whether the trial court abused its discretion by failing to grant a motion for a mistrial after the government's star witness, who was present for motions in limine, willfully violated the court's ruling on a motion in limine by testifying in an outburst that he had credible evidence of child rape?
3. Whether the error(s) affected the outcome of trial?
4. Whether the prosecutor commits misconduct by shifting the burden to the defendant when arguing to the jury that the defense failed to call a witness?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

PROCEDURAL HISTORY:

On January 10, 2013, David Newland Sr., was arrested and booked into the Clark County Jail on allegations of Assault in the Third Degree. (CP 114) The State of Washington filed an information alleging Mr. Newland committed the crimes of Assault in the Third Degree and Obstructing a Law Enforcement Officer on January 15, 2013. (CP 1). On January 18, 2013, the matter proceeded to arraignment, where Mr. Newland pled, 'not guilty'. (CP 114)

On March 22, 2013, Appellant filed a 'Motion for a Bill of Particulars.' (CP 114) In response, the State filed its 'First Amended Information' alleging Mr. Newland committed the crimes of i) Intimidating a Public Servant, to wit: Brendan McCarthy, ii) Intimidating a Public Servant, to wit: Kim Karu, iii) Assault in the Third Degree, to wit: Brendan McCarthy, and iv) Obstructing a Public Servant. (CP 2-3). A month later, Appellant

filed a motion to dismiss counts I, II and IV, e.g., Intimidating a Public Servant, to wit: Brendan McCarthy, Intimidating a Public Servant to wit: Kim Karu, and Obstructing a Public Servant. (CP 115)

After a motion hearing on June 19, 2013, the trial court granted the defense motion to dismiss counts II, e.g., Intimidating a Public Servant, to wit: Karu, but reserved ruling with respect to count I, e.g., Intimidating a Public Servant, to wit: McCarthy. (CP 115) The State agreed to dismiss the allegation of 'Obstructing a Public Servant' and filed a Second Amended Information on June 19, 2013, alleging two counts: i) Intimidating a Public Servant to wit: McCarthy, and ii) Assault in the Third Degree. (CP 4, 115).

On January 10, 2014, defense filed a '*Knapstad* Motion' to dismiss both remain counts. In response, the State filed a Third Amended Information striking the allegation of Intimidating a Public Servant, and stipulated on the record that the allegation of Assault in the Third Degree was premised upon either: i) the apprehension prong or ii) the common law battery prong of the assault instruction. (CP 13).

The Assault in the Third Degree allegation proceeded to trial on March 31, 2014, before the Honorable David Gregerson. Prior to trial, appellant made 30 motions to limit and/or exclude testimony through motions in limine. (CP 14-20) During trial, the defense filed a 'Motion for a Mistrial' premised upon Detective McCarthy's willful violation of a motion in limine. (CP 48-50). The jury returned a verdict of 'Guilty' and Mr. Newland timely appealed. (CP 88)

STATEMENT OF FACTS:

BACKGROUND

In December of 2012, Clark County Sheriff Deputy Chris Nichollis, received a report of sexual abuse from Ashely Fritz. (CP 22). Ms. Fritz was 21 when she made the report and made the report by phone from her home in Delaware. (CP 22). Ms. Fritz alleged that her step father, David Newland, Jr., not to be confused with the appellant in the instant matter, David Newland, Sr., sexually abused her ten years prior when she was 11 years old. (CP 22-23). Fritz made the report because her half-sister, E.N., resided with David Newland, Jr., and Fritz had concerns for E.N.'s welfare. After receiving the report, Nichollis referred the matter to

CPS social worker, Kim Karu, and the Clark County Sheriff's Department for further investigation.

MOTIONS IN LIMINE

Prior to trial, Appellant filed a set of 'Motions in Limine.' (CP 14-20). Specific to the instant appeal, Appellant moved to "Exclude Testimony and/or Other Evidence Regarding Allegations of Sexual Abuse by David Newland, Jr." (CP 15-16, RP 20, Ins: 13-15) The State opposed the motion stating in part, "I think the State should be able to get into it in its case in chief that there was an investigation going on, to tell the story to prove that he was working in his capacity as a law enforcement officer and, three, to show motive for why the Defendant did what he allegedly did." (RP 22, Ins 3-8) Conversely, appellant argued:

....Infusing this case into child sex abuse case is extremely prejudicial under 403. Its not relevant for the question of whether or not Mr. Newland Assaulted Mr. McCarthy...The fact that there's underlying sex abuse, child abuse, pedophilia, child rape sort of thing going on here, ..., that's just trying to blanket the whole defense and say, 'We're defending pedophiles. We're on the pedophiles' side.' That's not what this case is about. This case is about an assault. That's all this case is about. And, and it's incredibly prejudicial to infuse this case with...information like that." (RP 22, Ins: 11 - 24, RP 23, Ins: 1-6)

In denying the Appellant motion, the court noted:

... The issue, I think is an important one. I see this primarily as a 403 issue. I think relevance, if that the objection, and I notice 401 was stated, I think it's fairly relevant for the bases that Mr. Hayes has stated. The real question is whether the probative value of the information is substantially outweighed by the risk of unfair prejudice or confusion or waste of time. The Court engages in a balancing test in order to consider that. On the one hand, we have somewhat unsavory allegations or a, an unpleasant subject matter, which is the subject of the investigation, that could serve to explain the party's motivations, as there may be emotional or personal or legal consequences involved. On the other hand, there is a risk of some prejudice there because, as Mr. Harlan says, it could be construed or inferred that this makes the information or makes the Defendant on the side of possible bad actors (sic), and it also happens to be the, the same name as the Defendant, although it's a senior and a junior. So the Court considers that, and the Court's view on this is that it is appropriate but can be cured to some extent by a limiting instruction. If defense wishes to have some sort of a limiting instruction which clarifies that the evidence is being admitted only for the purposes explaining the totality of the incident and the motivations of the parties that may be involved, but should not be construed as inference of guilt on the charge or of involvement, you know, personally in legal issues involving the son. And let's - We can think about it that and come up with some appropriate language. (CP 23, lns: 20-24 - CP 25, lns: 1-6)

Appellant opposed the suggestion that a limiting instruction was sufficient to cure the prejudice associated with the child sex abuse evidence and in fact that such an instruction would simply

ring the bell louder. (RP 25, lns: 6-15) The court agreed, stating, "...I do appreciate the, the ringing the bell argument. The best description I've ever heard of that was the, the Wizard of Oz approach; which is 'Pay no attention to the man behind the curtain', which I understand are some concerns there, but I think we can craft an instruction that might get us around that." (RP 26, lns: 1-7)

Dovetailing appellant's 'Motion in Limine No. 5' was 'Motion in Limine No. 7,' which requested exclusion of "Testimony and/or Other Evidence Pertaining to Ashley Fritz and/or her Report of Sexual Abuse." (CP 16, RP 27, lns: 11-14) The State again opposed the motion. (RP 27, lns: 13-21). Similar to motion in limine no. 5, the court ruled:

Again, the Court looks under 403 as to whether the probative value is substantially out-weighted. It's hard for the Court to see a probative value in specifically mentioning Ashley Fritz or her involvement there. I think what is appropriate is for the parties to reference to the jury that the officer and Ms. Karu *were there to investigate a report of some abuse there, even sexual abuse*, I think that's probably...(emphasis added) (RP 28, lns: 9-17)

///

///

. . . I think it's appropriate for the State to elicit factual testimony and reference that the officers were there for purposes of investigating a complaint of *sexual abuse*. In terms of who reported it and any more specifics, then I think we start getting on the slippery slope of 403. . . (emphasis added) (RP 29, Ins: 7-13)

...

The balancing I'm doing here is trying to give the jury enough information so that they're not having so many question marks that they're filling that in with incorrect information which *could be prejudicial to either side*. I think what's appropriate is to mention that the officers were there to do a welfare check, based upon a third party's report of some abuse that occurred a substantial time earlier. (RP 32, Ins: 2-10) (emphasis added)

The State proposed, "Just say prior sexual abuse of a minor and we can leave it at that and then if we go into 10..." (RP 32, Ins: 17-18) The court responded, "I think that's most appropriate. *Let's just leave it as vanilla as possible at prior sexual abuse* of a different minor." (emphasis added) (RP 32, Ins 21-24) In response, defense counsel pointed out, "Why does sexual abuse come in at all? I mean, the sexual abuse has zero to do with the assault. (RP 33, Ins: 1-2) It has nothing to do with the assault, and it's incredibly prejudicial. I mean; abuse: fine sexual abuse that, that screams pedophile, that screams prejudice under 403. (RP 33, Ins: 2-6) In response, the court acknowledged:

Well, I see your point, but I think it's appropriate and the Court can properly distinguish with the limiting instruction to make sure that your client is not unfairly painted with the information that might pertain to a different person....An alleged perpetrator I, I mean, I agree with you Mr. Harlan, it's a difficult issue, it's a, it's a tightrope there. And I could be wrong on it, and if the Court of Appeals tells me I'm wrong . . . then . . . I'll have to respect that. (RP 33, Ins 7 -20)

The court went on to state:

. . . I think the appropriate information, if we can boil it down to a streamlined version is to say that, that the law enforcement was there to investigate welfare, based upon a report of a third party of alleged sexual abuse from a substantial time earlier. (RP 33, ln: 24, - RP 34, Ins: 1-4)

Defendant's motion in limine number 12 moved for 'exclusion of evidence that [David] Newland Jr., was the suspect of an active child rape investigation.' (CP 16, RP 41, Ins: 16-19) The State agreed with the motion, stating, ". . . I'm fine just leaving it as sexual abuse allegations and not going into a rape...rape investigation." (RP 41, ln: 24, RP 42, Ins: 1-2) The court agreed stating, "Yeah, the phrase, you know, an active child rape investigation is probably improper, but I think there's some general latitude to explain that they were responding to a call and a welfare check. . . and that specific phrase will be granted in limine" (RP 42, Ins: 3-7)

Detective McCarthy violated the court's ruling on the instant motions in limine. On cross-examination, McCarthy testified:

. . . I felt stupid because in trying to be accommodating to Mr. Newland, I let him into the house, I took off my shoes, okay, and I allowed that situation to be there, and I felt stupid because - - when he came up to me it became clear why he was there, which was to interfere with the investigation, to prevent us from talking to the 11-year-old when ***I had substantial criminal - or credible evidence that his son raped -his granddaughter.*** (emphasis added) (RP 315, Ins: 21-24; RP 316, Ins: 1-6; RP 404, Ins: 4-14)

In response to the violation, the court instructed the jury to disregard the last word of the statement. (RP 316, In: 12). The court went on to instruct the jury to disregard that last remark from the witness. (RP 316, Ins: 15-16). Defense counsel timely objected to the statement and moved for a mistrial. (RP 316, Ins: 17-18; RP 331, Ins: 10-20) On the second day of trial, defense filed a written motion for mistrial based upon McCarthy's willful violation of the motion in limine. (CP 48) In response, the State summed up the crux of the issue before the court well. More specifically the prosecutor stated:

. . . Basically a motion for a mistrial would only be granted if there's literally no way to remedy the prejudice that's happened. And first off, case law says juries are presumed to follow the Court's instructions. The testimony in question, the Court did ask the jury to disregard it. *We were already at a point where they were already aware that there were child sexual abuse allegations against Newland, Jr. Here the detective just said information that Newland, Jr., had raped his stepdaughter. It's not really that much more afar of what we where we were already going in the case,* the Court asked the jury to disregard it, and it pertains to a third-party, not the defendant, I think that's a pretty key distinction here, so when they jump up and down about prejudice, it's not even against their client, it's against someone else, and like I said, *it was already in the area that we were already into,* so it's not so prejudicial that he just cannot receive a fair trial and that no instruction could possibly remedy it, which is what the Court will really have to find in order to grant a mistrial. (emphasis added) (RP 402, Ins: 16-24; RP 403, Ins: 1-16)

The court candidly agreed that McCarthy 'crossed the line' and violated the motion in limine. (RP 404, In: 24, RP 405, In: 1-2) Prior to the court's ruling on the defense 'Motion for Mistrial' the prosecutor acknowledged the significance of the error, stating:

. . . So the fact that – And the Court's order was, was violated, and I'm not saying, I'm not trying to minimize that, that was bad, but the extent to which it was - - we went over the line didn't put this into an area where he [Newland Sr.] can't get a fair trial. (RP 480, Ins: 2-7)

OPENING STATEMENT

At the outset of the trial, the Deputy Prosecutor beat the child sexual abuse drum in opening statement. More specifically, the prosecutor began his opening statement stated:

When police officers get up in the morning and go to work, they're facing the unknown, except that they know that they're going to be in potentially dangerous situations. The case you are about to hear more of is a dangerous situation created by the defendant. ***The Defendant wanted to hinder a child sexual abuse investigation involving his son.*** The defendant got right up into Detective McCarthy's face, tried to tell Detective McCarthy what he could and couldn't do in his attempts to try to hinder the investigation...(emphasis added) (RP 214, lns: 9-20)

...

As part of the investigation, the detective, in the days, weeks leading up to January 10th, 2013, had interviewed a person who had ***made sexual abuse allegations*** against Newland Jr., and on January 10th, 2013, the detective, along with a CPS social worker named Kim Karu, went to the house of David Newland, Jr., to contact his wife, Melani, and their daughter, E.N., just as part of normal protocol, to contact and make sure other kids associated in this situation are safe to be where they are, determine if perhaps they need to be removed from the home for safety of the kid, and that's what happened on this day January 10th, 2013. (emphasis added) (RP 215, lns: 6-19)

TESTIMONY:

Child abuse was referenced throughout the trial. At the outset of Brendan McCarthy's testimony, McCarthy testified, "As a patrol officer, officer safety is one of those things that's kind of at the forefront of everything that you do." (RP 230, Ins: 14-15) "As an investigator, when we're interviewing children who are potentially victims bluntly, officer safety is not one of those things that's the forefront of your, of your head when your doing that." (RP 230, Ins: 14-20) He testified that when he went to the Newland home on January 10, 2013, he was investigating allegations of child sexual abuse. (RP 233, Ins: 5-8) Furthermore, McCarthy testified:

the victim in this case had actually made a 911 call to, to the 911 operator here in Clark County. That was then routed to a deputy who wrote a report. That deputy then contacted the state and where the victim was currently living and arranged for the victim to be interviewed by a detective in that state. (RP 233, Ins: 13-19)

...

///

///

///

...by January 10th, I had spoken to the victim on the phone but I had not done a formal interview, she had already been formally interviewed in the state where she was currently a resident. I had spoken to that detective who had done the interview to assess his feelings about her, about the allegations that she was making, and as he has been working child sexual abuse cases for 20 year... (RP 233, Ins: 21-24; RP 234, Ins: 1-6)

I am a detective assigned to the Children's Justice Center, which is a joint unit between the Vancouver Police Department and the Clark County Sheriff's Office. We investigate felony level crimes against kids. Most of those are child sexual abuse. (RP 235, Ins: 20-24, RP 236, ln: 1)

CPS kind of has two roles with us. One, they generate referrals when people call Child Protective Services and they generate a referral that then says there's an allegation of abuse, it's then forwarded to my supervisor, who then determines then whether or not this is criminal level that needs to be investigated. That[s] one role. (RP, 236, Ins: 5-12)

The second role is if there's an allegation that comes through law enforcement, someone calling 911, someone reporting it, and some - school calling 911, when we have a valid allegation of abuse, we will then reach out to CPS and report it ourselves so that they, then, have a referral to go along with our law enforcement case, and so then they work the case from the Child Protective Services side and we work the case from the law enforcement side. (RP 236, Ins: 13-21)

////

////

////

The safety aspect of the kids goes hand-in-hand between law enforcement and Child Protective Services because if we deem that –if, it it's deemed that the children in the home are not safe, CPS can't take the kids without law enforcement signing over custody unless they go get a writ from a judge. (CP 237, Ins: 1-7)

McCarthy went on to testify that he went to the Newland household on January 10th 2013 as part of his official duties with the Clark County Sheriff's Department to do a welfare check on a child's safety and as part of his own child abuse investigation associated with the child sexual abuse allegations. (RP 237, Ins: 19-24; 238, Ins: 1-3)

McCarthy and CPS social worker Kim Karu arrived at the Newland home a little later than 12:30 on January 10th, 2013. (RP 239, Ins: 10-11, Ins: 21-22, RP 353, Ins: 7-15) Karu and McCarthy drove to the home together and McCarthy was in plain clothes wearing a tie, jacket, pants, button up shirt, badge and gun. (RP 240, Ins: 2-17) The purpose of going to the Newland home was to make contact with E.N. a female minor living in the home. (RP 241, Ins: 3-4)

As McCarthy and Karu arrived at the home, another car, driven by an elderly 73 year old gentleman with a heart condition,

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