NO. 46147-1-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

DAVID LLEWELLYN NEWLAND, Appellant

FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR CLARK COUNTY CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO.13-1-00090-3

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Attorneys for Respondent:

ANTHONY F. GOLIK Prosecuting Attorney Clark County, Washington

RACHAEL R. PROBSTFELD, WSBA #37878 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Clark County Prosecuting Attorney 1013 Franklin Street PO Box 5000 Vancouver WA 98666-5000 Telephone (360) 397-2261

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

C. ARGUMENT

I. ANY REASONABLE JURY WOULD HAVE CONVICTED NEWLAND BASED ON THE UNTAINED EVIDENCE

Newland claims the trial court erred in admitting evidence of the reason why Detective McCarthy was intending to interview the minor child on the date of this incident, and that this error was not harmless. This Court need not reach the issue of whether this evidence was properly admitted as it was clearly harmless, even if it was erroneously admitted.

A trial court's decision to admit evidence is subject to harmless error analysis. *State v. Guloy*, 104 Wn.2d 412, 432, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985), *cert. denied*, 475 U.S. 1020, 106 S. Ct. 1208, 89 L.Ed2d 321 (1986). "Where evidence is improperly admitted, the trial court's error is harmless 'if the evidence is of minor significance in reference to the overall, overwhelming evidence as a whole." *State v. Yates*, 161 Wn.2d 714, 764, 168 P.3d 359 (2007) (quoting *State v. Burgeois*, 133 Wn.2d 389, 403, 945 P.2d 1120 (1997)). This type of error is harmless if this Court is "convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that any reasonable jury would

have reached the same result absent the error." *State v. Easter*, 130 Wn.2d 228, 922 P.2d 1285 (1996). Washington applies the "overwhelming untainted evidence" test as the standard for harmless error analysis. *Guloy*, 104 Wn.2d at 426. Under this test, the Court "looks only at the untainted evidence to determine if the untainted evidence is so overwhelming that it necessarily leads to a finding of guilt. *Id.* The record does not support Newland's contention that the issue of the allegation of his son's sex abuse infiltrated and tainted the entire trial. Though it was an issue discussed at length in pre-trial motions, and outside the jury's presence, the actual evidence regarding the allegation of sex abuse that the jury heard was extremely minimal. Almost all the evidence the jury heard is untainted.

The jury heard that Detective McCarthy and Ms. Karu had arranged to visit the home to speak with a child, and that at the same time of their arrival, Newland arrived. RP 239, 243. The jury heard that when Detective McCarthy attempted to follow Ms. Karu and the child to go talk, Newland told him that he could not speak with the child. RP 247. The jury heard that Newland closed the distance between himself and Detective McCarthy, making Detective McCarthy feel threatened. RP 248. At this time, Newland's demeanor was angry and he was yelling. RP 249. Intending to move Newland away from him, Detective McCarthy pushed Newland on the shoulder and Newland threw his right arm and elbow at

Detective McCarthy's face, coming within inches of striking Detective McCarthy. RP 250-52. The jury heard that Detective McCarthy and Newland then struggled on the floor before Detective McCarthy was able to gain control over Newland. RP 256-57. None of this evidence discussed or implicated the issue of sexual abuse allegations. This evidence is all untainted. The entirety of the evidence that supports the jury's finding that the elements of the crime were proven is untainted. It is clear that any reasonable jury would have convicted beyond a reasonable doubt even if this jury had never heard that Newland's son was accused of sexual abuse of a child. Furthermore, the prosecutor never mentioned the sexual abuse allegations in his closing argument, and it was briefly mentioned one time in his rebuttal. RP 494-504, 527. The sexual abuse allegations were not the central issue of the trial, and it was only briefly raised in front of the jury. This subject, whether properly admitted or not, did not have an impact on the jury's verdict, and it is clear that any reasonable jury would have convicted Newland based on the untainted evidence presented at trial.

Newland received a fair trial and the admission of the evidence of the allegations of sexual abuse against his son was not prejudicial and was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED NEWLAND'S MOTION FOR A MISTRIAL

Newland claims the trial court improperly denied his motion for a mistrial after the detective violated the motion in limine by saying Newland, Jr. was under investigation for child rape. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the mistrial and Newland received a fair trial.

A trial court's decision to deny a motion for a mistrial is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *State v. Mak*, 105 Wn.2d 692, 701, 719, 718 P.2d 407, *cert. denied*, *Mak v. Washington*, 479 U.S. 995, 107 S. Ct. 599, 93 L.Ed.2d 599 (1986). "An appellate court finds abuse only 'when no reasonable judge would have reached the same conclusion." *State v. Hopson*, 113 Wn.2d 273, 284, 778 P.2d 1014 (1989) (quoting *Sofie v. Fibreboard Corp.*, 112 Wn.2d 636, 667, 771 P.2d 711 (1989)). A mistrial should only be granted if a defendant has been so prejudiced that nothing short of a mistrial will ensure he receives a fair trial. *Mak*, 105 Wn.2d at 701. This Court should examine the seriousness of the irregularity, whether it involved cumulative evidence, and whether the trial court properly instructed the jury to disregard the evidence in determining the effect of the irregularity. *Hopson*, 113 Wn.2d at 284 (citing *Mak*, 105 Wn.2d at 701 and *State v. Weber*, 99 Wn.2d 158, 165-66, 659 P.2d 1102

(1983)). Furthermore, a trial judge is best suited to judge the prejudice of a statement. *Weber*, 99 Wn2d at 166.

In *Hopson*, a witness told the jury that the defendant had previously been in prison. *Hopson*, 113 Wn.2d at 284. The trial court did not believe this statement affected the fairness of the trial and did not find the statement to be "earth-shattering." *Id.* In affirming the trial court's denial of the mistrial motion, the Supreme Court found that the irregularity was not serious enough as to materially affect the outcome of the trial and the jury had overwhelming evidence favoring conviction. *Id.* at 286. In this case, the Supreme Court also found it significant that the trial court instructed the jury to disregard the statement and moved the trial along, noting that jurors are presumed to follow instructions. *Id.* (citing *Mak*, 105 Wn.2d at 407).

The irregularity in Newland's case is similar to that in *Hopson*. The statement was brief and minimal; the statement was stricken and the jury was told to disregard the statement. The jury is presumed to have followed that instruction. Furthermore, the judge, being the best person to judge the impact of this statement, found it did not affect Newland's ability to receive a fair trial. This is further evidenced by the fact that this subject matter was not a theme of the trial or significantly discussed with the jury, and the State did not even mention it in its initial closing. The

trial court properly applied the law and came to the conclusion that

Newland could still receive a fair trial despite the detective's reference to
rape. The trial court did not abuse its discretion and properly denied

Newland's motion for a mistrial.

III. THE PROSECUTOR DID NOT COMMIT PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT

Newland alleges the prosecutor committed misconduct by arguing to the jury that they did not know what the 911 caller saw. Newland's claim is without any merit.

Newland cites to case law that holds it is improper for a prosecutor to argue to the jury that the defendant could have called witnesses and did not. For example, in *State v. Traweek*, 43 Wn.App. 99, 715 P.2d 1148, *rev. denied*, 106 Wn.2d 1007 (1986), the prosecutor stated, "....That doesn't mean the defense counsel can't put other witnesses on if they have explanations for any of these questions, any of this evidence. Where has it been? Why hasn't it be [*sic*] presented if there are explanations, which there aren't?..." *Traweek*, 43 Wn.App. at 106. This is a far cry from the statement Newland complains of. Newland's defense counsel played the 911 call twice during his closing argument and relied heavily upon the 911 caller as the original source and best witness to the incident. RP 505, 516-18. The prosecutor simply told the jury that they did not know what the

911 caller actually saw. RP 521. The prosecutor argued to the jury, based on their ability to evaluate evidence, why the 911 call was not as reliable or credible as defense argued it was. The prosecutor in no way said the defendant failed to call witnesses, or even alluded to the fact that he should have called this witness. The prosecutor simply argued that the 911 call did not give a full picture of what the caller saw or what her motivations could have been in making the call. RP 521-23.

A defendant has a significant burden when arguing that prosecutorial misconduct requires reversal of his convictions. *State v. Thorgerson*, 172 Wn.2d 438, 455, 258 P.3d 43 (2011). To prevail on a claim of prosecutorial misconduct, a defendant must establish that the prosecutor's complained of conduct was "both improper and prejudicial in the context of the entire record and the circumstances at trial." *State v. Magers*, 164 Wn.2d 174, 191, 189 P.3d 126 (2008) (quoting *State v. Hughes*, 118 Wn.App. 713, 727, 77 P.3d 681 (2003) (citing *State v. Stenson*, 132 Wn.2d 668, 718, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997))). To prove prejudice, the defendant must show that there was a substantial likelihood that the misconduct affected the verdict. *Magers*, 164 Wn.2d 191 (quoting *State v. Pirtle*, 127 Wn.2d 628, 672, 904 P.2d 245 (1995)). A defendant must object at the time of the alleged improper remarks or conduct. A defendant who fails to object waives the error unless the remark is "so

flagrant and ill-intentioned that it causes an enduring and resulting prejudice that could not have been neutralized by an admonition to the jury." *State v. Russell*, 125 Wn.2d 24, 86, 882 P.2d 747 (1994). When reviewing a claim of prosecutorial misconduct, the court should review the statements in the context of the entire case. *Id*.

In the context of closing arguments, a prosecuting attorney has "wide latitude in making arguments to the jury and prosecutors are allowed to draw reasonable inferences from the evidence." *State v. Fisher*, 165 Wn.2d 727, 747, 202 P.3d 937 (2009) (citing *State v. Gregory*, 158 Wn.2d, 759, 860, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006)). The purported improper comments should be reviewed in the context of the entire argument. *Id.*The court should review a prosecutor's comments during closing in the context of the total argument, the issues in the case, the evidence addressed in the argument, and the jury instructions. *State v. Dhaliwal*, 150 Wn.2d 559, 578, 79 P.3d 432 (2003); *State v. Brown*, 132 Wn.2d 529, 561, 940 P.2d 546 (1997), *cert. denied*, 523 U.S. 1007 (1998).

Improper argument does not require reversal unless the error was prejudicial to the defendant. *State v. Davenport*, 100 Wn.2d 757, 762, 675 P.2d 1213 (1984). The court in *Davenport* stated:

Only those errors [that] may have affected the outcome of the trial are prejudicial. Errors that deny a defendant a fair trial are per se prejudicial. To determine whether the trial was fair, the court should look to the trial irregularity and determine whether it may have influenced the jury. In doing so, the court should consider whether the irregularity could be cured by instructing the jury to disregard the remark. Therefore, in examining the entire record, the question to be resolved is whether there is a substantial likelihood that the prosecutor's misconduct affected the jury verdict, thereby denying the defendant a fair trial.

Davenport, 100 Wn.2d at 762-63.

In Newland's case, there was no improper statement in the prosecutor's rebuttal argument, but any potential misstatement this Court finds did not affect the jury verdict. Newland was not denied a fair trial. The closing argument must be taken in the entire context of which it was given. Newland focuses his argument of prosecutorial misconduct on two statements the prosecutor made during rebuttal. Br. of Appellant, p. 41-42. These sentences must be taken in the entire context of the surrounding comments and the entire argument. *State v. Fisher*, 165 Wn.2d at 747. These statements also must be taken in the context of the response to defense counsel's argument. Defense counsel repeatedly referred to the 911 call as the "source." RP 517. Defense counsel stated that the 911 caller's statement is "made at the source." RP 517. This is during defense counsel's argument that water is purest at the source, prior to it being "soiled" by things the water picks up along the way. RP 517. Defense counsel argued this 911 call and the statements made in it were

made "without opportunity for deliberation, forethought, fabrication, without the statement being soiled and tarnished by time and self-interest." RP 517. And after playing the 911 tape for the jury a second time during his argument, defense counsel characterized the call as "the source. That's the water bubbling out of the ground, okay?" RP 518. Defense counsel made a strategic decision not to call the 911 caller, Melanie Newland, as a witness because of her bias and motive to lie because this detective involved in this case investigated her husband for sex abuse allegations, allegations which led to charges and convictions for her husband. RP 395-401.

The prosecutor's rebuttal to defense's significant reliance on the accuracy and credibility of the 911 call was reasonable and proper.

Defense counsel heralded this 911 call and the caller as the pure source of clean water, essentially, the only untainted evidence the jury heard. This simply was not true and the prosecutor only pointed out that the jury did not hear evidence of the 911 caller's motivations or what she actually saw. RP 521-23. This argument was proper, and the case law Newland relies upon does not support his argument. The prosecutor never suggested Newland had any burden to produce witnesses; the prosecutor only commented on the evidence defense relied upon and argued to the jury

why it was not as credible or reliable as defense argued it was. This is permissible argument. Newland's claim fails.

Even if there was prosecutorial misconduct for improper argument, a case will not be reversed because of an improper argument "unless such error is prejudicial to the accused and only those errors which may have affected the outcome of the trial are prejudicial." Davenport, 100 Wn.2d at 762 (citing State v. Estill, 80 Wn.2d 196, 200, 492 P.2d 1037 (1972) and State v. Gilcrist, 91 Wn.2d 603, 612, 590 P.2d 809 (1979)). This court should inquire as to whether the improper argument influenced the jury. *Id.* at 762 (citing *State v. Weber*, 99 Wn.2d 158, 165, 659 P.2d 1102 (1983)). If there is a substantial likelihood that the prosecutor's misconduct affected the jury verdict, the defendant was denied a fair trial. State v. Wheeler, 95 Wn.2d 799, 807, 631 P.2d 376 (1981). There is no possibility here that these statements affected the jury's verdict. The jury was instructed that the arguments of counsel are not evidence. The prosecutor urged the jury to convict based on the evidence it had been presented. RP 524-27. The jury instructions, which the jury is presumed to follow, told the jury that it had to find all elements beyond a reasonable doubt. There is no reasonable possibility that the jury believed Newland had to prove his innocence. Newland received a fair trial.

D. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

Newland's arguments are without merit. The evidence of allegations against Newland's son for child sexual abuse did not affect the outcome of the trial, and Newland received a fair trial. The prosecutor made no improper argument during his closing and rebuttal, and no statements he made denied Newland a fair trial. Newland's claims fail and the trial court should be affirmed in all respects.

DATED this 20th day of February, 2015.

By:

Respectfully submitted:

ANTHONY F. GOLIK

Prosecuting Attorney

Clark County, Washington

RACHAEL R. PROBSTFELD, WSBA #37878

Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

CLARK COUNTY PROSECUTOR

February 20, 2015 - 2:05 PM

Transmittal Letter

Document Uploaded:	5-461421-Respondent's Brief.pdf

Case Name: State v. David Newland

Court of Appeals Case Number: 46142-1

Is this a Personal Restraint Petition? Yes No

The

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